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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

Certain information included or incorporated herein by reference in this report may be deemed to be “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, statements relating to our objectives, plans and strategies. All
statements (other than statements of historical fact) that address activities, events or developments that we intend, expect, project, believe or anticipate will or may occur in the
future are forward-looking statements. These statements are often characterized by terminology such as “believe,” “hope,” “may,” “anticipate,” “should,” “intend,” “plan,”
“will,” “expect,” “estimate,” “project,” “positioned,” “strategy” and similar expressions, and are based on assumptions and assessments made in light of our experience and
perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other factors we believe to be appropriate. For example, information appearing under
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” includes forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Important factors that could cause actual results, developments and business decisions to differ
materially from forward-looking statements are more fully described in this report, including the risks set forth under “Risk Factors” in Item 1A, and in the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, but include the following:

• extensive government regulations to which the Company's products, business practices and manufacturing activities are subject;
• registration of products for sale in foreign markets, or difficulty or increased cost of importing products into foreign markets;
• legal challenges to the Company's direct selling program or to the classification of its independent consultants;
• laws and regulations regarding direct selling may prohibit or restrict our ability to sell our products in some markets or require us to make changes to our business model

in some markets;
• liabilities and obligations arising from improper activity by the Company’s independent consultants;
• product liability claims;
• our cannabidiol (CBD) product line is subject to varying, rapidly changing laws, regulations, and rules;
• actions on trade relations by the U.S. and foreign governments;
• impact of anti-bribery laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;
• the Company’s ability to attract and retain independent consultants;
• the loss of one or more key independent consultants who have a significant sales network;
• the Company’s joint venture for operations in China with Fosun Industrial Co., Ltd.;
• the effect of fluctuating foreign exchange rates;
• failure of the Company’s independent consultants to comply with advertising laws;
• changes to the Company’s independent consultants compensation plans;
• geopolitical issues and conflicts;
• we may be adversely affected by the ongoing coronavirus pandemic;
• negative consequences resulting from difficult economic conditions, including the availability of liquidity or the willingness of the Company’s customers to purchase

products;
• risks associated with the manufacturing of the Company's products;
• supply chain disruptions, manufacturing interruptions or delays, or the failure to accurately forecast customer demand;
• failure to timely and effectively obtain shipments of products from our manufacturers and deliver products to our independent consultants and customers;
• world-wide slowdowns and delays related to supply chain, ingredient shortages and logistical challenges;
• uncertainties relating to the application of transfer pricing, duties, value-added taxes, and other tax regulations, and changes thereto;
• changes in tax laws, treaties or regulations, or their interpretation;
• cybersecurity threats and exposure to data loss;
• the storage, processing, and use of data, some of which contain personal information, are subject to complex and evolving privacy and data protection laws and

regulations;
• reliance on information technology infrastructure; and
• the sufficiency of trademarks and other intellectual property rights.

All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report and are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in or
incorporated by reference into this report. Except as is required by law, we expressly disclaims any obligation to publicly release any revisions to forward-looking statements to
reflect events after the date of this report. Throughout this report, we refer to Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc., together with our subsidiaries, as "we," "us," "our," "our
Company" or “the Company.”
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PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

NATURE’S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands)
(Unaudited)

September 30,
2021

December 31,
2020

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 75,535 $ 92,069 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $445 and $454, respectively 9,189 7,375 
Inventories 57,376 47,683 
Prepaid expenses and other 8,627 6,938 

Total current assets 150,727 154,065 

Property, plant and equipment, net 52,538 54,355 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 19,136 20,210 
Investment securities - trading 950 989 
Deferred income tax assets 5,842 8,693 
Other assets 10,559 11,186 

Total assets $ 239,752 $ 249,498 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 7,580 $ 6,486 
Accrued volume incentives and service fees 21,868 19,481 
Accrued liabilities 29,606 31,710 
Deferred revenue 1,513 2,092 
Related party notes payable 600 1,200 
Income taxes payable 3,540 2,387 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 4,495 4,992 
Current portion of note payable 1,235 1,306 

Total current liabilities 70,437 69,654 

Liability related to unrecognized tax benefits 5 92 
Long-term portion of operating lease liabilities 16,510 16,412 
Long-term note payable 1,488 2,418 
Deferred compensation payable 950 989 
Deferred income tax liabilities 1,574 1,391 
Other liabilities 1,158 1,308 

Total liabilities 92,122 92,264 

Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, no par value, 50,000 shares authorized, 19,775 and 19,697 shares issued and outstanding, respectively 134,252 139,311 
Retained earnings 21,586 26,030 
Noncontrolling interest 2,838 1,848 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (11,046) (9,955)

Total shareholders’ equity 147,630 157,234 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 239,752 $ 249,498 

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATURE’S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Amounts in thousands, except per share information)
(Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2021 2020
Net sales $ 114,746 $ 100,250 
Cost of sales 29,419 27,175 
Gross profit 85,327 73,075 

Operating expenses:
Volume incentives 35,793 34,310 
Selling, general and administrative 39,528 33,294 
Operating income 10,006 5,471 
Other income (loss), net (886) 671 
Income before provision for income taxes 9,120 6,142 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 3,662 (1,027)

Net income 5,458 7,169 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 600 414 
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 4,858 $ 6,755 

Basic and diluted net income per common share:

Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders $ 0.24 $ 0.35 

Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders $ 0.24 $ 0.34 

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,894 19,533 

Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding 20,375 19,859 

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATURE’S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Amounts in thousands, except per share information)
(Unaudited) 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2021 2020
Net sales $ 326,145 $ 283,462 
Cost of sales 84,861 74,873 
Gross profit 241,284 208,589 

Operating expenses:
Volume incentives 105,491 96,493 
Selling, general and administrative 108,666 92,863 
Operating income 27,127 19,233 
Other loss, net (2,290) (230)
Income before provision for income taxes 24,837 19,003 
Provision for income taxes 8,433 2,695 

Net income 16,404 16,308 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 990 837 
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 15,414 $ 15,471 

Basic and diluted net income per common share:

Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders $ 0.77 $ 0.79 

Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders $ 0.76 $ 0.78 

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 19,896 19,493 

Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding 20,292 19,820 

Dividends declared per common share $ 1.00 $ — 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATURE’S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Amounts in thousands)
(Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

2021 2020
Net income $ 5,458 $ 7,169 
Foreign currency translation income (loss) (net of tax) (925) 718 
Total comprehensive income $ 4,533 $ 7,887 

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2021 2020
Net income $ 16,404 $ 16,308 
Foreign currency translation income (loss) (net of tax) (1,091) 458 
Total comprehensive income $ 15,313 $ 16,766 

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATURE’S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Amounts in thousands)
(Unaudited) 

Common Stock

Retained Earnings
Noncontrolling

Interest

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss TotalShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2020 19,697 $ 139,311 $ 26,030 $ 1,848 $ (9,955) $ 157,234 
Share-based compensation expense — 1,005 — — — 1,005 
Shares issued from the exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units, net of shares exchanged for
withholding tax 218 (914) — — — (914)
Cash dividends ($1.00 per share) — — (19,858) — — (19,858)
Net income — — 4,016 136 — 4,152 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (121) (121)

Balance at March 31, 2021 19,915 $ 139,402 $ 10,188 $ 1,984 $ (10,076) $ 141,498 
Share-based compensation expense — 1,066 — — — 1,066 
Shares issued from the exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units, net of shares exchanged for
withholding tax 152 (660) — — — (660)
Repurchase of common stock (77) (1,500) — — — (1,500)
Net income — — 6,540 254 — 6,794 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (45) (45)

Balance at June 30, 2021 19,990 $ 138,308 $ 16,728 $ 2,238 $ (10,121) $ 147,153 
Share-based compensation expense — 886 — — — 886 
Shares issued from the exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units, net of shares exchanged for
withholding tax 58 (442) — — — (442)
Repurchase of common stock (273) (4,500) — — — (4,500)
Net income — — 4,858 600 — 5,458 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (925) (925)

Balance at September 30, 2021 19,775 $ 134,252 $ 21,586 $ 2,838 $ (11,046) $ 147,630 
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Common Stock

Retained Earnings
Noncontrolling

Interest

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss TotalShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2019 19,410 $ 135,741 $ 4,693 $ 227 $ (11,225) $ 129,436 
Share-based compensation expense — 394 — — — 394 
Shares issued from the exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units, net of shares exchanged for
withholding tax 60 (159) — — — (159)
Net income — — 2,962 44 — 3,006 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (109) (109)

Balance at March 31, 2020 19,470 $ 135,976 $ 7,655 $ 271 $ (11,334) $ 132,568 
Share-based compensation expense — 736 — — — 736 
Shares issued from the exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units, net of shares exchanged for
withholding tax 40 (51) — — — (51)
Net income — — 5,754 379 — 6,133 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (151) (151)

Balance at June 30, 2020 19,510 $ 136,661 $ 13,409 $ 650 $ (11,485) $ 139,235 
Share-based compensation expense — 1,011 — — — 1,011 
Shares issued from the exercise of stock options and vesting
of restricted stock units, net of shares exchanged for
withholding tax 82 104 — — — 104 
Net income — — 6,755 414 — 7,169 
Other comprehensive income — — — — 718 718 

Balance at September 30, 2020 19,592 $ 137,776 $ 20,164 $ 1,064 $ (10,767) $ 148,237 

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATURE’S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Amounts in thousands)
(Unaudited) 

 
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
 2021 2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:   

Net income $ 16,404 $ 16,308 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:   

Provision for doubtful accounts — 116 
Depreciation and amortization 8,276 7,834 
Non-cash lease expense 4,043 2,398 
Share-based compensation expense 2,957 2,141 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 24 7 
Deferred income taxes 2,891 1,210 
Purchase of trading investment securities (30) (47)
Proceeds from sale of trading investment securities 175 221 
Realized and unrealized gains on investments (62) (41)
Foreign exchange losses 2,483 354 

Changes in assets and liabilities:   
Accounts receivable (2,054) (1,692)
Inventories (10,771) (1,361)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,787) (798)
Other assets (267) (30)
Accounts payable 421 1,102 
Accrued volume incentives and service fees 2,750 (1,370)
Accrued liabilities (1,646) 5,106 
Deferred revenue (551) 295 
Lease liabilities (4,170) (2,276)
Income taxes payable 1,316 (1,078)
Liability related to unrecognized tax benefits (87) (1,417)
Deferred compensation payable (34) (133)

Net cash provided by operating activities 20,281 26,849 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:   

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (4,626) (3,487)
Net cash used in investing activities (4,626) (3,487)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
Payments of cash dividends (19,858) — 
Principal payments of long-term debt (1,001) — 
Proceeds from note payable — 5,374 
Principal payments of related party borrowing (600) (243)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock awards — 192 
Payments related to tax withholding for net-share settled equity awards (2,016) — 
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options — (298)
Repurchase of common stock (6,000) — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (29,475) 5,025 
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (2,714) 244 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (16,534) 28,631 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 92,069 53,629 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period $ 75,535 $ 82,260 
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:   

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $ 4,431 $ 3,293 
Cash paid for interest 156 24 

 
See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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NATURE’S SUNSHINE PRODUCTS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
 

(1)    Basis of Presentation
 

We are a natural health and wellness company primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of nutritional and personal care products. We are a Utah corporation with
our principal place of business in Lehi, Utah, and sell our products to a sales force of independent consultants who use the products themselves or resell them to consumers.

 
Principles of Consolidation

 
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for interim

financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required
by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and its subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals), considered necessary for a fair presentation of our financial information as
of September 30, 2021, and for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. The results of operations of any interim period are not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2021.

 
These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in our Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 as amended by Form 10-K/A on July 9, 2021.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, in these
financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from these estimates due to the uncertainty around the magnitude and duration of the COVID-19
pandemic, as well as other factors and those differences could have a material effect on our financial position and results of operations.

The significant accounting estimates inherent in the preparation of our financial statements include estimates associated with our determination of liabilities related to
independent consultant incentives, the determination of income tax assets and liabilities, certain other non-income tax and value-added tax contingencies, and legal
contingencies. In addition, significant estimates form the basis for allowances with respect to inventory valuations. Various assumptions and other factors enter into the
determination of these significant estimates. The process of determining significant estimates takes into account historical experience and current and expected economic
conditions.

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests changed as a result of the net income attributable to noncontrolling interests of $0.6 million and $1.0 million for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2021, respectively. Net income attributable to the noncontrolling interests was $0.4 million and $0.8 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2020, respectively. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, noncontrolling interests were $2.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively.

Restructuring Related Accruals and Expenses

We recorded $0 and $48,000 of restructuring related expenses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. We recorded $0 and $0.1
million of restructuring related expenses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, respectively. Accrued severance and restructuring related costs were $0
and $0.4 million as of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740):

Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. This ASU eliminates certain exceptions related to the approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the methodology for calculating
taxes during the quarters and the recognition of deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences. The amendments in this update are effective for reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2020. The adoption of this ASU did not have a significant impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.
This ASU provides optional guidance for a limited period of time to ease the potential burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of) reference rate reform on financial
reporting. The amendments in this update are elective and subject to meeting certain criteria, that have contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference
LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform. This could affect balances of right of use assets, lease liabilities, and notes
payables. The amendments in this update are effective as of March 12, 2020 through December 21, 2022. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a significant impact
on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2)    Inventories
 

The composition of inventories is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):
September 30,
2021

December 31,
2020

Raw materials $ 19,603 $ 13,956 
Work in progress 1,619 1,351 
Finished goods 36,154 32,376 
Total inventories $ 57,376 $ 47,683 

(3)    Investment Securities - Trading
 

Our trading securities portfolio totaled $1.0 million at September 30, 2021, and $1.0 million at December 31, 2020, and generated losses of $4,000 and gains of $45,000
for the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and gains of $62,000 and gains of $41,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

 
(4)    Revolving Credit Facility and Other Obligations

On July 11, 2017, we entered into a revolving credit agreement with Bank of America, N.A., with a borrowing limit of $25.0 million (the “Credit Agreement”). On June
11, 2020 the credit agreement was amended to extend the term to mature on July 1, 2023. The amendment also allows for additional borrowings of $15.0 million or up to three
separate increases of no less than $5.0 million each. On March 8, 2021, we signed an amendment to the credit agreement that eliminates the Index floor from the calculation of
interest. We pay interest on any borrowings under the Credit Agreement, which through March 8, 2021, was at LIBOR, or the Index floor of 0.75 percent, plus 2.25 percent
(3.00 percent as of December 31, 2020), and an annual commitment fee of 0.25 percent on the unused portion of the commitment. Interest under the amended Credit Agreement
is at LIBOR, plus 2.25 percent (2.33 percent as of September 30, 2021), and an annual commitment fee of 0.25 percent on the unused portion of the commitment. We are
required to settle our net borrowings under the Credit Agreement only upon maturity, and as a result, have classified prior outstanding borrowings as non-current on our
condensed consolidated balance sheet. At September 30, 2021, there was no outstanding balance under the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement contains customary financial covenants, including financial covenants relating to our solvency and leverage. In addition, the Credit Agreement
restricts certain capital expenditures, lease expenditures, other indebtedness, liens on assets, guarantees, loans and advances, dividends, mergers, consolidations and transfers of
assets except as permitted in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement is collateralized by our manufacturing facility, accounts receivable, inventories and other assets. As
of September 30, 2021, we were in compliance with the debt covenants set forth in the Credit Agreement.

On April 21, 2020, we entered into a credit agreement with Banc of America Leasing and Capital, LLC, with a borrowing limit of $6.0 million (the "Capital Credit
Agreement"). On November 19, 2020, we executed on the Capital Credit Agreement and borrowed $3.7 million. We currently do not expect to make any additional borrowings
under the Capital Credit Agreement. We pay interest on any borrowings under the Capital Credit Agreement at a fixed rate of 3.00 percent and are
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required to settle our borrowings under the Capital Credit Agreement in 36 monthly payments, of $0.1 million. The Capital Credit Agreement is collateralized by any new
equipment purchased under the agreement. As of September 30, 2021, there was $2.7 million outstanding balance under the Capital Credit Agreement, of which $1.2 million
was classified as current.

(5)    Net Income Per Share
 

Basic net income per common share (“Basic EPS”), is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per common share (“Diluted EPS”) reflects the potential dilution that could occur if stock options or other contracts to issue common stock were
exercised or converted into common stock. The computation of Diluted EPS does not assume exercise or conversion of securities that would have an anti-dilutive effect on net
income per common share.

Following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of Basic EPS to the numerator and denominator of Diluted EPS for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020 (dollar and share amounts in thousands, except for per share information):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2021 2020 2021 2020

Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 4,858 $ 6,755 $ 15,414 $ 15,471 

Basic weighted average shares outstanding 19,894 19,533 19,896 19,493 

Basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders $ 0.24 $ 0.35 $ 0.77 $ 0.79 

Diluted shares outstanding:
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding 19,894 19,533 19,896 19,493 
Stock-based awards 481 326 396 327 
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 20,375 19,859 20,292 19,820 

Diluted earnings per share attributable to common shareholders $ 0.24 $ 0.34 $ 0.76 $ 0.78 

Dilutive shares excluded from diluted-per-share amounts:
Stock options 460 791 460 791 

Anti-dilutive shares excluded from diluted-per-share amounts:
Stock options — 199 — 199 

Potentially dilutive shares excluded from diluted-per-share amounts include performance-based options to purchase shares of common stock for which certain earnings
metrics have not been achieved. Potentially anti-dilutive shares excluded from diluted-per-share amounts include both non-qualified stock options and unearned performance-
based options to purchase shares of common stock with exercise prices greater than the weighted- average share price during the period and shares that would be anti-dilutive to
the computation of diluted net income per share for each of the periods presented.

 
(6)    Capital Transactions

 
Dividends

On March 10, 2021, we announced a special non-recurring cash dividend of $1.00 per common share in an aggregate amount of $19.9 million that was paid on April 5,
2021, to shareholders of record on March 29, 2021. In accordance with the provisions of our 2012 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2012 Incentive Plan"), as a result of the special
dividend we are required to make the participant's original grant whole by preventing either dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended by the original
grant. The 2012 Incentive Plan provides our Compensation Committee with the discretion to meet this requirement. See further discussion in the Share-Based Compensation
section of this Note.
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The declaration of future dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon various factors, including our earnings, financial
condition, restrictions imposed by any indebtedness that may be outstanding, cash requirements, future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.

Share Repurchase Program

On March 10, 2021, we announced a $15.0 million common share repurchase program. The repurchases may be made from time to time as market conditions warrant
and are subject to regulatory considerations. At September 30, 2021, the remaining balance available for repurchases under the program was $9.0 million.

Share-Based Compensation
 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, our shareholders adopted and approved the Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc. 2012 Stock Incentive Plan. The 2012 Incentive
Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend equivalent rights,
performance awards, stock awards and other stock-based awards. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has authority and discretion to determine the type of
award, as well as the amount, terms and conditions of each award under the 2012 Incentive Plan, subject to the limitations of the 2012 Incentive Plan. A total of 1,500,000
shares of our common stock were originally authorized for the granting of awards under the 2012 Incentive Plan. In 2015, our shareholders approved an amendment to the 2012
Incentive Plan, to increase the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance by 1,500,000 shares. On May 5, 2021, our shareholders approved the Amended and
Restated 2012 Stock Incentive Plan, which among other amendments, increased the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance by 2,000,000 shares. The number
of shares available for awards, as well as the terms of outstanding awards, are subject to adjustment as provided in the Amended and Restated 2012 Incentive Plan for stock
splits, stock dividends, recapitalizations and other similar events.

 
We have also maintained a stock incentive plan, which was approved by shareholders in 2009 (the “2009 Incentive Plan"), which provided for the grant of incentive

stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, dividend equivalent rights, performance awards, stock awards and
other stock-based awards. As of September 30, 2021, there were no outstanding awards under the 2009 Incentive Plan.

 
Stock Options

 
Our outstanding stock options include time-based stock options, which vest over differing periods of time ranging from the date of issuance to up to 48 months from the

option grant date, and performance-based stock options, which have already vested upon achieving operating income margins of six, eight and ten percent as reported in four of
five consecutive quarters over the term of the options.

 
Stock option activity for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, is as follows (amounts in thousands, except per share information):

Number of
Shares

Weighted Average
Exercise

Price Per Share

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Options outstanding at December 31, 2020 226 $ 12.10 $ 5.42 
Granted — — — 
Forfeited or canceled — — — 
Exercised (53) 12.00 6.61 

Options outstanding at September 30, 2021 173 $ 12.13 $ 5.05 

There was no share-based compensation expense for the three- and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020. As of September 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, there was no unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to the grants described above.

As a result of the special dividend, we issued 4,300 shares to outstanding option holders as dividend equivalents in order to keep the participant's original grant whole.
Because this modification was required under the provisions of our stock incentive plans, no additional share-based compensation expense was recorded. 

14



Table of Contents

At September 30, 2021, the aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisable stock options to purchase 173,000 shares of common stock was $0.5 million. At
December 31, 2020, the aggregate intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisable options to purchase 226,000 shares of common stock was $0.7 million.

For the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, we issued 53,000 and 41,000 shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options at an average
exercise price of $12.00 and $7.92 per share, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and
2020, was $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively. For the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $0.2 million and $0.1 million
of tax benefits from the exercise of stock options, respectively.

As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we did not have any unvested performance-based stock options outstanding.
 

Restricted Stock Units
 

Our outstanding restricted stock units (“RSUs”), include time-based RSUs, which vest over differing periods of time ranging from 12 months to up to 36 months from
the RSU grant date, as well as performance-based RSUs, which vest upon achieving targets relating to revenue and earnings growth, earnings-per-share, and/or stock price
levels. RSUs granted to members of the Board of Directors contain a restriction period in which the shares are not issued until two years after vesting. At September 30, 2021
and December 31, 2020, there were 94,000 and 82,000 vested RSUs, respectively, granted to the Board of Directors with an accompanying restriction period.

Restricted stock unit activity for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, is as follows (amounts in thousands, except per share information):

Number of
Shares

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Restricted Stock Units outstanding at December 31, 2020 1,179 $ 6.18 
Granted 306 13.48 
Forfeited (94) 6.91 
Issued (519) 6.38 

Restricted Stock Units outstanding at September 30, 2021 872 8.55 

 
During the nine-month period ended September 30, 2021, we granted 306,000 RSUs under the 2012 Incentive Plan to the Board of Directors, executive officers and other

employees, which were comprised of both time-based RSUs and share-priced performance-based RSUs. The time-based RSUs were issued with a weighted-average grant date
fair value of $18.05 per share and vest in annual installments over a three-year period from the grant date. The share-priced performance-based RSUs were issued with a
weighted-average grant date fair value of $13.87 per share and vest upon achieving share-priced targets over a three-year period from the grant date.

Except for share-priced performance RSUs, RSUs are valued at market value on the date of grant, which is the grant date share price discounted for expected dividend
payments during the vesting period. For RSUs with post-vesting restrictions, a Finnerty Model was utilized to calculate a valuation discount from the market value of common
shares reflecting the restriction embedded in the RSUs preventing the sale of the underlying shares over a certain period of time. Using assumptions previously determined for
the application of the option pricing model at the valuation date, the Finnerty Model discount for lack of marketability is approximately 12.7 percent for a common share.

Share-price performance-based RSUs were estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation model. The Monte Carlo simulation model utilizes multiple input variables to
estimate the probability that market conditions will be achieved. Our assumptions include a performance period of three years, expected volatility of between 50.0 percent and
54.70 percent, and a range of risk-free rates between 0.3 percent and 2.9 percent.

Share-based compensation expense for RSUs for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, was approximately $0.6 million and $0.5 million,
respectively. Share-based compensation expense from RSUs for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, was approximately $1.6 million and $1.4 million,
respectively. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to the grants described above, excluding incentive
awards discussed below, was $2.0 million and $1.3 million, respectively. The remaining compensation expense is expected to be recognized over the weighted average period of
approximately 0.8 years.
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Share-based compensation expense related to performance-based RSUs for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, was $0.3 million and $0.5

million, respectively. Share-based compensation expense related to performance-based RSUs for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, was $1.2 million
and $0.8 million, respectively. Should we attain all of the metrics related to performance-based RSU grants, we would, and expect to, recognize up to $1.8 million of potential
share-based compensation expense.

As a result of the special dividend, we issued 22,000 time-based RSUs and 26,200 performance-based RSUs that mirror the original grant time and performance-based
vesting targets and requirements as dividend equivalents in order to keep the participant's original grant whole. These awards are included in the granted share total in the table
above. Because this modification was required under the provisions of our stock incentive plans, no additional share-based compensation expense was recorded.

The number of shares issued upon vesting of RSUs granted pursuant to our share-based compensation plans is net of the minimum statutory withholding requirements
that we pay on behalf of our employees, which was 150,000 and 41,000 shares for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Although shares
withheld are not issued, they are treated as common share repurchases for accounting purposes, as they reduce the number of shares that would have been issued upon vesting.
These shares do not count against the authorized capacity under the repurchase program described above. 

(7)    Segment Information
 
We have four business segments (Asia, Europe, North America, and Latin America and Other) based primarily upon the geographic region where each segment operates,

as well as the internal organization of our officers and their responsibilities. Each of the geographic segments operate under the Nature’s Sunshine Products and Synergy®
WorldWide brands. The Latin America and Other segment includes our wholesale business in which we sell products to various locally-managed entities independent of the
Company that we have granted distribution rights for the relevant market.

Net sales for each segment have been reduced by intercompany sales as they are not included in the measure of segment profit or loss reviewed by the chief executive
officer. We evaluate performance based on contribution margin by segment before consideration of certain inter-segment transfers and expenses.
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Reportable business segment information is as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2021 2020 2021 2020
Net sales:

Asia $ 48,417 $ 38,099 $ 127,708 $ 101,814 
Europe 21,813 18,006 65,468 54,098 
North America 37,738 37,557 112,872 110,785 
Latin America and Other 6,778 6,588 20,097 16,765 

Total net sales 114,746 100,250 326,145 283,462 

Contribution margin (1):
Asia 21,421 17,981 55,203 48,560 
Europe 6,959 5,954 20,343 17,987 
North America 17,193 12,065 48,892 38,388 
Latin America and Other 3,961 2,765 11,355 7,161 

Total contribution margin 49,534 38,765 135,793 112,096 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (2) 39,528 33,294 108,666 92,863 
Operating income 10,006 5,471 27,127 19,233 

Other income (loss), net (886) 671 (2,290) (230)
Income before provision for income taxes $ 9,120 $ 6,142 $ 24,837 $ 19,003 

_________________________________________

(1)    Contribution margin consists of net sales less cost of sales and volume incentives expense.

(2)    Service fees in China totaled $5.2 million and $11.7 million for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to $3.2 million and $8.0
million for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2020. These service fees are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

From an individual country perspective, the United States and South Korea comprise 10 percent or more of consolidated net sales for the three and nine-month periods
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):

 
Three Months Ended

September 30,
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
2021 2020 2021 2020

Net sales:
United States $ 34,960 $ 35,062 $ 104,258 $ 103,048 
South Korea 15,985 16,592 48,340 47,447 
Other 63,801 48,596 173,547 132,967 

$ 114,746 $ 100,250 $ 326,145 $ 283,462 
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Net sales generated by each of our product lines is set forth below (dollar amounts in thousands):
 

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2021 2020 2021 2020
Asia

General health $ 13,150 $ 10,055 $ 37,140 $ 27,364 
Immune 463 85 1,048 465 
Cardiovascular 13,018 10,622 35,181 29,284 
Digestive 10,427 9,935 25,045 24,482 
Personal care 4,201 2,575 12,015 7,457 
Weight management 7,158 4,827 17,279 12,762 

48,417 38,099 127,708 101,814 
Europe

General health $ 9,308 $ 7,725 $ 28,447 $ 22,501 
Immune 2,285 1,510 6,119 5,324 
Cardiovascular 2,774 2,581 8,602 7,693 
Digestive 5,700 4,541 16,807 13,254 
Personal care 1,167 1,023 3,592 3,492 
Weight management 579 626 1,901 1,834 

21,813 18,006 65,468 54,098 
North America

General health $ 16,573 $ 15,839 $ 49,192 $ 46,190 
Immune 5,056 5,790 14,031 18,637 
Cardiovascular 4,171 4,138 12,406 11,984 
Digestive 9,079 8,635 28,558 24,734 
Personal care 1,978 1,963 5,631 5,867 
Weight management 881 1,192 3,054 3,373 

37,738 37,557 112,872 110,785 
Latin America and Other

General health $ 1,959 $ 2,038 $ 5,807 $ 5,002 
Immune 806 837 2,314 2,326 
Cardiovascular 448 429 1,351 1,070 
Digestive 2,941 2,682 8,813 7,008 
Personal care 406 384 1,149 848 
Weight management 218 218 663 511 

6,778 6,588 20,097 16,765 
$ 114,746 $ 100,250 $ 326,145 $ 283,462 

From an individual country perspective, only the United States comprised 10 percent or more of consolidated property, plant and equipment as follows (dollar amounts in
thousands):

September 30,
2021

December 31,
2020

Property, plant and equipment:
United States $ 48,176 $ 50,025 
Other 4,362 4,330 

Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 52,538 $ 54,355 
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Total assets per segment is set forth below (dollar amounts in thousands):
September 30,

2021
December 31,

2020
Assets:

Asia $ 96,522 $ 82,572 
Europe 17,931 16,398 
North America 117,215 142,324 
Latin America and Other 8,084 8,204 

Total assets $ 239,752 $ 249,498 

(8)    Income Taxes
 
For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, our provision (benefit) for income taxes, as a percentage of income before income taxes was 40.2 percent and

(16.7) percent, respectively, compared with a U.S. federal statutory rate of 21.0 percent. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, our provision for income
taxes, as a percentage of income before income taxes was 34.0 percent and 14.2 percent, respectively, compared with a U.S. federal statutory rate of 21.0 percent.

The difference between the effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily attributed to
an increase in tax liability associated with transfer pricing adjustments, non-deductible executive compensation, and net unfavorable foreign tax related items, partially offset by
favorable deductions for stock compensation.

The difference between the effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2020, was primarily attributed to a decrease
in tax liability associated with uncertain tax positions and release of valuation allowance for deferred tax assets expected to be utilized in the prior year. The difference between
the effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, was primarily attributed to a decrease in tax liability associated with
uncertain tax positions and release of valuation allowance for deferred tax assets expected to be utilized in the prior year, partially offset by transfer pricing adjustments and
foreign losses during that period that were not expected to provide future tax benefit, as well as net unfavorable foreign tax related items.

The difference between the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to September 30, 2020 is primarily caused by an
increase in the current period tax liability associated with transfer pricing adjustments and non-deductible executive compensation, partially offset by favorable deductions for
stock compensation in the current period, as well as decreases in prior period uncertain tax positions and valuation allowances which did not repeat in the current period.

As the U.S. Department of the Treasury is working on finalizing Treasury Regulations with respect to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (Tax Reform Act), future changes could
likewise affect recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities in later periods. Management is not aware of any such additional changes that would have a material effect on our
results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

Our U.S. federal income tax returns for 2017 through 2020 are open to examination for federal tax purposes. We have several foreign tax jurisdictions with open tax years
from 2014 through 2020.

 
As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we have accrued $5,000 and $0.1 million, respectively, related to unrecognized tax positions.
 
Interim income taxes are based on an estimated annualized effective tax rate applied to the respective quarterly periods, adjusted for discrete tax items in the period in

which they occur. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, we can make no assurance that the final tax outcome of these matters will not be different from that
which we have reflected in our historical income tax provisions and accruals. Such differences could have a material impact on our income tax provision and operating results
in the period in which we make such determination.
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(9)    Commitments and Contingencies
 

Legal Proceedings
 
We are party to various legal proceedings and disputes. Management cannot predict the ultimate outcome of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, or their

resulting effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or cash flows as litigation and related matters are subject to inherent uncertainties, and unfavorable
rulings could occur. Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, there exists the possibility of a material adverse impact on our business, financial position, results of operations, or
cash flows for the period in which the ruling occurs and/or future periods. We maintain product liability, general liability and excess liability insurance coverage. However,
insurance may not continue to be available at an acceptable cost to us, such coverage may not be sufficient to cover one or more large claims, or the insurers may successfully
disclaim coverage as to a pending or future claim.

 
Non-Income Tax Contingencies

 
We have reserved for certain state sales and use tax and foreign non-income tax contingencies based on the likelihood of an obligation in accordance with accounting

guidance for probable loss contingencies. Loss contingency provisions are recorded for probable losses at management’s best estimate of a loss, or when a best estimate cannot
be made, a minimum loss contingency amount is recorded. We provide provisions for potential payments of tax to various tax authorities for contingencies related to non-
income tax matters, including value-added taxes and sales tax. We provide provisions for U.S. state sales taxes in each of the states where we have nexus. As of September 30,
2021 and December 31, 2020, accrued liabilities were $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, related to non-income tax contingencies. While we believe that the
assumptions and estimates used to determine contingent liabilities are reasonable, the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot presently be determined. We believe future
payments related to these matters could range from $0 to approximately $2.5 million.
 
Other Litigation

 
We are a party to various other legal proceedings and disputes in the United States and foreign jurisdictions. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, accrued

liabilities were $0.5 million, respectively, related to the estimated outcome of these proceedings. In addition, we are a party to other litigation where there is a reasonable
possibility that a loss may be incurred, but either the losses are not considered to be probable or we cannot at this time estimate the loss, if any; therefore, no provision for losses
has been provided. We believe future payments related to these matters could range from $0 to approximately $0.3 million.

 
(10)     Related Party Transactions

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, our joint venture in China, owned 80 percent by us and 20 percent by a wholly owned subsidiary
of Fosun Pharma, did not borrow any amounts from the Company or our joint venture partner. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 outstanding borrowings by
NSP China from the Company were $2.4 million and $4.8 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 outstanding borrowings by NSP China from
our joint venture partner were $0.6 million and $1.2 million, respectively. These notes are payable in less than one year and bear interest of 3.0 percent. The notes between NSP
China and the Company eliminate in consolidation.

(11)    Fair Value Measurements
 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that could be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. Financial assets are marked to bid prices and financial liabilities are marked to offer prices. Fair value measurements do not
include transaction costs. A fair value hierarchy is used to prioritize the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values of each financial instrument.
Categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value hierarchy is defined into the
following three categories:

 
Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 
Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.
 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.
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The following table presents our hierarchy for our assets, measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as of September 30, 2021 (dollar amounts in thousands):

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
 

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs Total
Investment securities - trading $ 950 $ — $ — $ 950 
Total assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis $ 950 $ — $ — $ 950 

 
The following table presents our hierarchy for our assets, measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as of December 31, 2020 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
 

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical Assets

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs Total
Investment securities - trading $ 989 $ — $ — $ 989 
Total assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis $ 989 $ — $ — $ 989 

 
Investment securities - trading — Our trading portfolio consists of various marketable securities that are valued using quoted prices in active markets.

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, and for the year ended December 31, 2020, there were no fair value measurements using significant other observable

inputs (Level 2) or significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).
 
The carrying amounts reflected on the condensed consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair

value due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of our debt approximates fair value due to its recent acquisition and short maturity. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, we did not have any re-measurements of non-financial assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis subsequent to their initial recognition.

(12)     Revenue Recognition

Revenue Recognition

Net sales include products and shipping and handling charges, net of estimates for product returns and any related sales incentives or rebates based upon historical
information and current trends. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring products. All revenue is recognized when
the Company satisfies its performance obligations under the contract. We recognize revenue by transferring the promised products to the customer, with revenue recognized at
shipping point, the point in time the customer obtains control of the products. The majority of our contracts have a single performance obligation and are short term in nature.
Contracts with multiple performance obligations are insignificant. Sales taxes and value-added taxes in the United States and foreign jurisdictions that are collected from
customers and remitted to governmental authorities are accounted for on a net basis and therefore are excluded from net sales. Amounts received for unshipped merchandise are
recorded as deferred revenue. Amounts for membership fees are deferred and amortized as revenue over the life of the membership, primarily one year.

A reserve for product returns is recorded based upon historical experience and current trends. We allow independent consultants to return the unused portion of products
within ninety days of purchase if they are not satisfied with the product. In some of our markets, the requirements to return product are more restrictive.

From time to time, our U.S. operations extend short-term credit associated with product promotions. In addition, for certain of our international operations, we offer
credit terms consistent with industry standards within the country of operation.

Volume incentives and other sales incentives or rebates are a significant part of our direct sales marketing program and represent commission payments made to
independent consultants. These payments are designed to provide incentives for reaching higher sales levels. The amount of volume incentive expense recognized is determined
based upon the amount of qualifying purchases in a given month and recorded as volume incentive expense. Payments to independent consultants for
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sales incentives or rebates related to their own purchases are recorded as a reduction of revenue. Some payments for sales incentives are processed daily; while others, including
rebates, are calculated monthly based upon qualifying sales.

Contract Liabilities - Customer Loyalty Programs

Historically, we have offered loyalty point programs which allowed customers to earn loyalty points on personal orders. Loyalty points were recorded as contract
liabilities in deferred revenue. These programs were accounted for as a reduction in the transaction price and generally recognized as points that were redeemed for additional
products. During the year ended December 31, 2020 these programs were discontinued. As of September 30, 2021, there were no outstanding loyalty points.

Disaggregation of Revenue

Our products are grouped into six principal categories: general health, immune, cardiovascular, digestive, personal care and weight management. We have four business
segments that are based primarily upon the geographic region where each segment operates. Each of the geographic segments operate under the Nature’s Sunshine Products and
Synergy® WorldWide brands. See Note 7, Segment Information, for further information on our reportable segments and presentation of disaggregated revenue by reportable
segment and product category.

Practical Expedients and Exemptions

We have made the accounting policy election to treat shipping and handling as a fulfillment activity rather than a promised service under Topic 606.

We generally expense volume incentives when incurred because the amortization period would have been one year or less.

All of our contracts with customers have a duration of less than one year. The value of any unsatisfied performance obligations is insignificant.
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Item 2.                            MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
included in this report, as well as the consolidated financial statements, the notes thereto, and management’s discussion and analysis included in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2020, and our other reports filed since the date of such Form 10-K.

 
OVERVIEW

 
We are a natural health and wellness company primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of nutritional and personal care products. We are a Utah corporation with

our principal place of business in Lehi, Utah, and sell our products directly to customers and to a sales force of independent consultants who resell our products to consumers.

Our independent consultants market and sell our products to customers and sponsor other independent consultants who also market our products to customers. Because a
significant amount of revenue is generated through the sales or our independent consultants, our revenue can be impacted by the number and productivity of our independent
consultants. We seek to motivate and provide incentives to our independent consultants by offering high quality products and providing independent consultants with product
support, training seminars, and financial incentives, among other considerations.

In or about December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2 "COVID-19", began aggressively spreading throughout the world, including all the primary
markets where we conduct business. As COVID-19 has spread throughout the world, it has impacted our markets differently. At various times during the course of the
pandemic and throughout our markets, governments have issued orders and restrictions that have limited the ability of our consultants to meet with consumers, put downward
pressure on our sales in many of our markets and added substantial uncertainties to our global supply chain. However, despite such restrictions, we experienced an increase in
sales during the third quarter due primarily to increased demand for nutritional supplements. Although we are taking appropriate actions to mitigate the effects COVID-19 may
have on our business, such actions may ultimately be insufficient to avoid substantial impact on the consolidated financial statement or material health of the Company. At this
time, the duration of any business disruption and related financial impact cannot be reasonably estimated.

In the third quarter of 2021, we experienced an increase in our consolidated net sales of 14.5 percent (or 12.9 percent in local currencies) compared to the same period in
2020. Asia net sales increased approximately 27.1 percent (or 24.0 percent in local currencies) compared to the same period in 2020. Europe net sales increased approximately
21.1 percent (or 20.6 percent in local currencies) compared to the same period in 2020. North America net sales increased approximately 0.5 percent (or 0.1 percent in local
currencies) compared to the same period in 2020. Latin America and Other net sales increased approximately 2.9 percent (or 0.9 percent in local currencies) compared to the
same period in 2020. The weakening of the U.S. dollar versus the local currencies, primarily in our Asian and European markets, resulted in an approximate 1.6 percent, or $1.6
million, increase of our net sales during the quarter.

Selling, general and administrative expenses during the three months ended September 30, 2021, increased $6.2 million compared to the same period in 2020, and
remained consistent as a percentage of net sales at 34.4 percent. The dollar increase was primarily related to higher service fees that resulted from growth in China's net sales,
increased selling costs intended to drive growth, including the rollout of a new compensation plan for independent consultants, introduction of virtual events, as well as growth
in markets with higher variable costs.

As an international business, we have significant sales and costs denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Sales in international markets denominated in
foreign currencies are expected to continue to represent a substantial portion of our sales. Likewise, we expect foreign markets with functional currencies other than the U.S.
Dollar will continue to represent a substantial portion of our overall sales and related operating expenses. Accordingly, changes in foreign currency exchange rates could
materially affect sales and costs or the comparability of sales and costs from period to period as a result of translating foreign markets financial statements into our reporting
currency.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 

The following table summarizes our unaudited consolidated operating results from continuing operations in U.S. dollars and as a percentage of net sales for the three
months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 (dollar amounts in thousands):

 

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2021

Three Months Ended
September 30, 2020 Change

Total
dollars

Percent of
net sales

Total
dollars

Percent of
net sales

Total
dollars Percentage 

Net sales $ 114,746 100.0 % $ 100,250 100.0 % $ 14,496 14.5 %
Cost of sales 29,419 25.6 27,175 27.1 2,244 8.3 
Gross profit 85,327 74.4 73,075 72.9 12,252 16.8 
Volume incentives 35,793 31.2 34,310 34.2 1,483 4.3 
SG&A expenses 39,528 34.4 33,294 33.2 6,234 18.7 
Operating income 10,006 8.7 5,471 5.5 4,535 82.9 
Other income (loss), net (886) (0.8) 671 0.7 (1,557) (232.0)
Income before income taxes 9,120 7.9 6,142 6.1 2,978 48.5 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 3,662 3.2 (1,027) (1.0) 4,689 456.6 
Net income $ 5,458 4.8 % $ 7,169 7.2 % $ (1,711) (23.9) %

The following table summarizes our unaudited consolidated operating results from continuing operations in U.S. dollars and as a percentage of net sales for the nine
months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 (dollar amounts in thousands):

 

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2021

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2020 Change

Total
dollars

Percent of
net sales

Total
dollars

Percent of
net sales

Total
dollars Percentage 

Net sales $ 326,145 100.0 % $ 283,462 100.0 % $ 42,683 15.1 %
Cost of sales 84,861 26.0 74,873 26.4 9,988 13.3 
Gross profit 241,284 74.0 208,589 73.6 32,695 15.7 
Volume incentives 105,491 32.3 96,493 34.0 8,998 9.3 
SG&A expenses 108,666 33.3 92,863 32.8 15,803 17.0 
Operating income 27,127 8.3 19,233 6.8 7,894 41.0 
Other loss, net (2,290) (0.7) (230) (0.1) (2,060) (895.7)
Income before income taxes 24,837 7.6 19,003 6.7 5,834 30.7 
Provision for income taxes 8,433 2.6 2,695 1.0 5,738 212.9 
Net income $ 16,404 5.0 % $ 16,308 5.8 % $ 96 0.6 %

 Net Sales
 

International operations have provided, and are expected to continue to provide, a significant portion of our total net sales. As a result, total net sales will continue to be
affected by fluctuations in the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies. In order to provide a framework for assessing how our underlying businesses performed excluding the
effect of foreign currency fluctuations, in addition to comparing the percent change in net sales from one period to another in U.S. dollars, we present net sales excluding the
impact of foreign exchange fluctuations. We compare the percentage change in net sales from one period to another period by excluding the effects of foreign currency
exchange as shown below. Net sales excluding the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations is not a U.S. GAAP financial measure and removes from net sales in U.S. dollars the
impact of changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the functional currencies of our foreign subsidiaries, by translating the current period net sales into U.S. dollars
using the same foreign currency exchange rates that were used to translate the net sales for the previous comparable period. We believe presenting the impact of foreign
currency fluctuations is useful to investors because it allows a more meaningful comparison of net sales of our foreign operations from period to period. However, net sales
excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net sales in U.S. dollar measures that reflect current period
exchange rates, or to other financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Throughout the last five years, foreign currency exchange rates have
fluctuated significantly. See Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
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The following table summarizes the changes in net sales by operating segment with a reconciliation to net sales excluding the impact of currency fluctuations for the
three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 (dollar amounts in thousands): 

Net Sales by Operating Segment

Three Months
Ended

September 30, 2021

Three Months
Ended

September 30, 2020
Percent
Change

Impact of
Currency
Exchange

Percent
Change

Excluding
Impact of
Currency

Asia $ 48,417 $ 38,099 27.1 % $ 1,165 24.0 %
Europe 21,813 18,006 21.1 105 20.6 
North America 37,738 37,557 0.5 151 0.1 
Latin America and Other 6,778 6,588 2.9 130 0.9 

$ 114,746 $ 100,250 14.5 % $ 1,551 12.9 %

The following table summarizes the changes in net sales by operating segment with a reconciliation to net sales excluding the impact of currency fluctuations for the nine
months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 (dollar amounts in thousands): 

Net Sales by Operating Segment

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2021

Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2020

Percent
Change

Impact of
Currency
Exchange

Percent
Change

Excluding
Impact of
Currency

Asia $ 127,708 $ 101,814 25.4 % $ 5,409 20.1 %
Europe 65,468 54,098 21.0 1,479 18.3 
North America 112,872 110,785 1.9 646 1.3 
Latin America and Other 20,097 16,765 19.9 298 18.1 

$ 326,145 $ 283,462 15.1 % $ 7,832 12.3 %

 
Consolidated net sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, were $114.7 million and $326.1 million, respectively, compared to $100.3 million and

$283.5 million for the same period in 2020, which represents increases of 14.5 percent and 15.1 percent, respectively. The increase for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021, was primarily related to notable product sales growth in all of our operating segments. Excluding the impact of foreign currency exchange rate
fluctuations, consolidated net sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, increased 12.9 percent and 12.3 percent, respectively, from the same periods in
2020.

Asia

Net sales related to Asia for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, were $48.4 million and $127.7 million, respectively, compared to $38.1 million and
$101.8 million for the same periods in 2020, or increases of 27.1 percent and 25.4 percent, respectively. In local currency, net sales for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021, increased 24.0 percent and 20.1 percent, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020.
Notable activity in the following markets contributed to the results of Asia:

In our South Korea market, net sales decreased $0.6 million and increased $0.9 million, or decreased 3.7 percent and increased 1.9 percent, for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. In local currency, net sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, decreased
6.1 percent and 4.0 percent, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. The decrease in local currency for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was
primarily the result of new product launches and extended promotions in 2020 that did not recur in 2021, as well as more pressure from government restrictions in the market
intended to slow the spread of COVID-19.

In our Japan market, net sales increased $2.5 million and $7.3 million, or 31.7 percent and 37.4 percent, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021,
respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. In local currencies, net sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, increased 35.7 percent and 38.5
percent, respectively, compared to the
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same periods in 2020. We attribute the growth in net sales primarily to product promotions intended to stimulate activity as well as an increase in demand for nutritional
supplements.

In our China market, net sales increased $2.6 million and $7.2 million, or 25.6 percent and 29.6 percent, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021,
respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. In local currencies, net sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, increased 18.7 percent and 21.9
percent, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. Although net sales in 2020 were affected by government restrictions in the market intended to slow the spread of
COVID-19, we attribute the growth in net sales primarily to initiatives designed to increase independent service providers’ engagement levels and gain market share.

Europe

Net sales related to Europe for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, were $21.8 million and $65.5 million, respectively, compared to $18.0 million and
$54.1 million for the same periods in 2020, or increases of 21.1 percent and 21.0 percent, respectively. In local currency, net sales for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021, increased 20.6 percent and 18.3 percent, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. The functional currency for many of these markets is the U.S.
Dollar which reduces the effect from foreign currency fluctuations. Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates had favorable impacts on net sales of $0.1 million and $1.5 million
for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. Net sales increased primarily as a result of product promotions that have improved consultant
engagement as well as an increase in demand for nutritional supplements, among other factors.

North America

Net sales related to North America for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, were $37.7 million and $112.9 million, respectively, compared to $37.6
million and $110.8 million for the same periods in 2020, or increases of 0.5 percent and 1.9 percent, respectively. In local currency, net sales for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2021, increased 0.1 percent and 1.3 percent, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020.

In the United States, net sales decreased $0.1 million and increased $1.2 million, or decreased 0.3 percent and increased 1.2 percent, for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. The year-to-date increase in the market is due to several factors including, among others, rebranding
and rebuilding efforts of the Nature's Sunshine brand and consultant tools in the U.S. and an increase in demand for nutritional supplements in the U.S..

Latin America and Other

Net sales related to Latin America and Other markets for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, were $6.8 million and $20.1 million, respectively,
compared to $6.6 million and $16.8 million for the same periods in 2020, or increases of 2.9 percent and 19.9 percent, respectively. In local currency, net sales for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2021, increased 0.9 percent and 18.1 percent, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. Fluctuations in foreign currency had
favorable impacts on net sales of $0.1 million and $0.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively. The increase for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily the result of changes in the independent consultant compensation plan as well as an increase in demand for nutritional
supplements and new product offerings.

Further information related to our Asia, Europe, North America, and Latin America and Other business segments is set forth in Note 7 to the Unaudited Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements in Part 1, Item 1 of this report.

Cost of Sales
 

Cost of sales as a percent of net sales was 25.6 percent and 26.0 percent for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to 27.1 percent and 26.4
percent for the same periods in 2020. The decrease in cost of sales percentage for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 is primarily due to changes in market mix
and reserves taken in the prior year, partially offset by increased transportation costs.
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Volume Incentives

Volume incentives expense as a percent of net sales was 31.2 percent and 32.3 percent for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared
to 34.2 percent and 34.0 percent for the same periods in 2020. These payments are designed to provide incentives for reaching certain sales levels. Volume incentives vary
slightly, on a percentage basis, by product due to pricing policies and commission plans in place in our various operations. We do not pay volume incentives in China, instead
we pay independent service fees which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. Volume incentives as a percentage of net sales can fluctuate based on
promotional activity and mix of sales by market. The decrease in volume incentives as a percent of net sales for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 is
primarily due to change in market mix, reflecting growth in markets where volume incentives as a percentage of net sales are lower than the consolidated average, and the
growth in NSP China. The decrease also reflects expected cost savings from the September 2020 launch of our new consultant sales and compensation plan in North America
and LATAM.

 
Selling, General and Administrative
 

Selling, general and administrative expenses represent operating expenses, components of which include labor and benefits, sales events, professional fees, travel and
entertainment, marketing, occupancy costs, communications costs, bank fees, depreciation and amortization, independent services fees paid in China, and other miscellaneous
operating expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $6.2 million and $15.8 million, respectively, to $39.5 million and $108.7 million for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2021, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2020. Selling, general and administrative expenses were 34.4 percent and 33.3 percent of net sales for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, compared to 33.2 percent and 32.8 percent for the same periods in 2020. The dollar increase in selling, general and
administrative expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily related to higher service fees that resulted from growth in China's net sales,
increased selling costs intended to drive growth, as well as growth in markets with higher variable costs.

Other Income (Loss), Net
 

Other income (loss), net, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, were losses of $0.9 million and $2.3 million, respectively, compared to gains of $0.7
million and losses of $0.2 million during the same periods in 2020, respectively. Other income (loss), for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 primarily
consisted of foreign exchange gains and losses as a result of net changes in foreign currencies primarily in Asia, Europe and Latin America.

 
Income Taxes

For the three months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, our provision for income taxes, as a percentage of income before income taxes was 40.2 percent and (16.7)
percent, respectively, compared with a U.S. federal statutory rate of 21.0 percent. For the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, our provision for income taxes, as a
percentage of income before income taxes was 34.0 percent and 14.2 percent, respectively, compared with a U.S. federal statutory rate of 21.0 percent.

The difference between the effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021, was primarily attributed to
an increase in tax liability associated with transfer pricing adjustments, non-deductible executive compensation, and net unfavorable foreign tax related items, partially offset by
favorable deductions for stock compensation.

The difference between the effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2020, was primarily attributed to a decrease
in tax liability associated with uncertain tax positions and release of valuation allowance for deferred tax assets expected to be utilized in the prior year. The difference between
the effective tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, was primarily attributed to a decrease in tax liability associated with
uncertain tax positions and release of valuation allowance for deferred tax assets expected to be utilized in the prior year, partially offset by transfer pricing adjustments and
foreign losses during that period that were not expected to provide future tax benefit, as well as net unfavorable foreign tax related items.

The difference between the effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 compared to September 30, 2020 is primarily caused by an
increase in the current period tax liability associated with transfer pricing adjustments and non-deductible executive compensation, partially offset by favorable deductions for
stock compensation in the
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current period, as well as decreases in prior period uncertain tax positions and valuation allowances which did not repeat in the current period.

Our U.S. federal income tax returns for 2017 through 2020 are open to examination for federal tax purposes. We have several foreign tax jurisdictions that have open tax
years from 2014 through 2020.

 
As of September 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we had accrued $5,000 and $0.1 million, respectively, related to unrecognized tax positions.

Product Categories
 
Our line of over 700 products includes several different product classifications, such as immune, cardiovascular, digestive, personal care, weight management and other

general health products. We purchase herbs and other raw materials in bulk and, after quality control testing, we formulate, encapsulate, tablet or concentrate them, label and
package them for shipment. Most of our products are manufactured at our facility in Spanish Fork, Utah. Contract manufacturers produce some of our products in accordance
with our specifications and standards. We have implemented quality control procedures to verify that our contract manufacturers have complied with our specifications and
standards.

See Note 7, Segment Information, for a summary of the U.S. dollar amounts from the sale of general health, immune, cardiovascular, digestive, personal care and weight
management products for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, by business segment.

 
Distribution and Marketing

 
We market our products primarily through our network of independent consultants, who market our products to customers through direct selling techniques and sponsor

other independent consultants who also market our products to customers. We seek to motivate and provide incentives to our independent consultants by offering high quality
products and providing independent consultants with product support, training seminars, sales conventions, travel programs and financial incentives.

Our products sold in the United States are shipped directly from our manufacturing and warehouse facilities located in Spanish Fork, Utah, as well as from our regional
warehouses located in Georgia, Ohio and Texas. Many of our international operations maintain warehouse facilities and inventory to supply their independent consultants.
However, in foreign markets where we do not maintain warehouse facilities, we have contracted with third-parties to distribute our products and provide support services to our
force of independent consultants.

In the United States, we generally sell our products on a cash or credit card basis. From time to time, our U.S. operations extend short-term credit associated with product
promotions. For certain of our international operations, we use independent distribution centers and offer credit terms that are generally consistent with industry standards
within each respective country.

We pay sales commissions, or “volume incentives” to our independent consultants based upon their own product sales and the product sales of their sales organization.
As an exception, in NSP China, we do not pay volume incentives; rather, we pay independent service fees, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
These volume incentives are recorded as an expense in the year earned. The amounts of volume incentives that we expensed during the quarters ended September 30, 2021 and
2020, are set forth in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this report. In addition to the opportunity to receive volume incentives, independent
Managers who attain certain levels of monthly product sales are eligible for additional incentive programs including automobile allowances, sales convention privileges and
travel awards.

 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 

Our principal use of cash is to pay for operating expenses, including volume incentives, inventory and raw material purchases, capital assets and funding of international
expansion. As of September 30, 2021, working capital was $80.3 million, compared to $84.4 million as of December 31, 2020. At September 30, 2021, we had $75.5 million in
cash, of which $13.7 million was held in the U.S. and $61.8 million was held in foreign markets and may be subject to various withholding taxes and other restrictions related to
repatriation before becoming available to be used along with the normal cash flows from operations to fund any unanticipated shortfalls in future cash flows.

 

28



Table of Contents

Our net consolidated cash inflows (outflows) are as follows (in thousands):
Nine Months Ended September 30,

2021 2020
Operating activities $ 20,281 $ 26,849 
Investing activities (4,626) (3,487)
Financing activities (29,475) 5,025 

 
Operating Activities

 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, operating activities provided cash of $20.3 million, compared to $26.8 million in the same period in 2020. Operating

cash flows decreased primarily due to an investment in inventory and timing of accounts receivable payments.

Investing Activities
 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, investing activities used $4.6 million, compared to $3.5 million for the same period in 2020. Capital expenditures related
to the purchase of equipment, computer systems and software for the nine months ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, were $4.6 million and $3.5 million, respectively.

Financing Activities
 
For the nine months ended September 30, 2021, financing activities used $29.5 million, compared to providing $5.0 million in cash for the same period in 2020.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we used cash to pay a special non-recurring cash dividend of $1.00 per common share in an aggregate amount of
$19.9 million.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we used cash to repurchase 350,000 shares of our common stock under the share repurchase program for $6.0
million. At September 30, 2021, the remaining balance available for repurchases under the program was $9.0 million.

We maintain a revolving credit agreement with Bank of America, N.A (the “Credit Agreement”), as well as a credit agreement with Banc of America Leasing and
Capital, LLC (the "Capital Credit Agreement"). During the nine months ended September 30, 2021, we made no additional borrowings from either agreement. At September 30,
2021, there was no outstanding balance under the Credit Agreement. During the nine months ended September 30, 2021 we made monthly payments of $0.1 million pursuant to
the Capital Credit Agreement. As of September 30, 2021, there was $2.7 million outstanding balance under the Capital Credit Agreement, $1.2 million of which was classified
as current. Our debt obligations are discussed in greater detail in Note 4, “Revolving Credit Facility and Other Obligations,” to our Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 1, Part 1 of this report.

We believe that cash generated from operations, along with available cash and cash equivalents, will be sufficient to fund our normal operating needs, including capital
expenditures, on both a short- and long-term basis.

In addition, other things such as a prolonged economic downturn, a decrease in demand for our products, an unfavorable settlement of our unrecognized tax positions or
non-income tax contingencies could adversely affect our long-term liquidity.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.
 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
 
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and form the basis for the following discussion and analysis on critical

accounting policies and estimates. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On a regular basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that
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are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates and those differences could have a material effect on our financial position and
results of operations. We have discussed the development, selection and disclosure of these estimates with the Board of Directors and our Audit Committee.

A summary of our significant accounting policies is provided in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2020. We believe the critical accounting policies and estimates described below reflect our more significant estimates and assumptions used in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. The impact and any associated risks on our business that are related to these policies are also discussed throughout this
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” where such policies affect reported and expected financial results.

 
Revenue Recognition

 
Our revenue recognition practices are discussed in Note 12, “Revenue Recognition,” to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1, Part 1 of this report.
 

Inventories
 
Inventories are adjusted to lower of cost and net realizable value, using the first-in, first-out method. The components of inventory cost include raw materials, labor and

overhead. To estimate any necessary adjustments, various assumptions are made in regard to excess or slow-moving inventories, non-conforming inventories, expiration dates,
current and future product demand, production planning and market conditions. If future demand and market conditions are less favorable than our assumptions, additional
inventory adjustments could be required.

Incentive Trip Accrual
 
We accrue for expenses associated with our direct sales program, which rewards independent consultants with paid attendance for incentive trips, including our

conventions and meetings. Expenses associated with incentive trips are accrued over qualification periods as they are earned. We specifically analyze incentive trip accruals
based on historical and current sales trends as well as contractual obligations when evaluating the adequacy of the incentive trip accrual. Actual results could generate liabilities
more or less than the amounts recorded.

Contingencies
 
We are involved in certain legal proceedings and disputes. When a loss is considered probable in connection with litigation or non-income tax contingencies and when

such loss can be reasonably estimated with a range, we record our best estimate within the range related to the contingency. If there is no best estimate, we record the minimum
of the range. As additional information becomes available, we assess the potential liability related to the contingency and revise the estimates. Revision in estimates of the
potential liabilities could materially affect our results of operations in the period of adjustment. Our contingencies are discussed in further detail in Note 10, “Commitments and
Contingencies”, to the Notes of our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, of Item 1, Part 1 of this report.

 
Income Taxes

 
Our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and contingent reserves reflect management’s best assessment of estimated future taxes to be paid. We

are subject to income taxes in both the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgments and estimates are required in determining our consolidated
provision for income taxes.

Deferred income taxes arise from temporary differences between the tax and financial statement recognition of revenue and expense. In evaluating our ability to recover
our deferred tax assets, management considers all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable
income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations. In projecting future taxable income, we develop assumptions including the amount of future state, federal and
foreign pretax operating income, the reversal of temporary differences, and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. These assumptions require
significant judgment about the forecasts of future taxable income, and are consistent with the plans and estimates that we are using to manage the underlying businesses.
Valuation allowances are recorded as reserves against net deferred tax assets by us when it is determined that net deferred tax assets are not likely to be realized in the
foreseeable future.
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Changes in tax laws and rates could also affect recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities in the future. Management is not aware of any such changes that would have a
material effect on our results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax laws and regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions across our
global operations. Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold to be recognized.

Item 3             QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
We conduct business in several countries and intend to grow our international operations. Net sales, operating income and net income are affected by fluctuations in

currency exchange rates, interest rates and other uncertainties inherent in doing business and selling product in more than one currency. In addition, our operations are exposed
to risks associated with changes in social, political and economic conditions inherent in international operations, including changes in the laws and policies that govern
international investment in countries where we have operations, as well as, to a lesser extent, changes in U.S. laws and regulations relating to international trade and investment.
For further information, see Part II, Item 7A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

 
Item 4.         CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

 
Our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required

to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in rules and forms
adopted by the SEC, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2021. Based on this evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2021, at the reasonable assurance
level.

 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended September 30,
2021, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION
 

Item 1.                     LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

None.
 

Item 1A.            RISK FACTORS
 

In addition to the information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the risks discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, which could have a material adverse effect on our business or consolidated financial statements, results of operations, and
cash flows. Additional risks not currently known, or risks that are currently believed to be not material, may also impair business operations. There have been no material
changes to our risk factors since the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, except as set forth below.

The ongoing coronavirus pandemic and the responses thereto around the world could adversely impact our business and operating results.

In or about December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, began aggressively spreading throughout the world, including all the primary markets where we
conduct business. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic, and the President of the United States declared the COVID-19
pandemic a national emergency. Governments around the world have issued, and others in the future may issue, orders restricting travel, or for their citizens to shelter-in-place
to slow the spread of COVID-19. Such orders, restrictions and recommendations, and the anticipation that additional orders, restrictions or recommendations could occur, have
resulted in widespread closures of businesses not deemed “essential,” work stoppages, limitations on the number of people allowed to gather in one location, slowdowns and
delays in world-wide supply chains, work-from-home policies, travel restrictions and cancellation of events, among other effects. In particular, travel and logistics restrictions,
shelter-in-place orders and other measures, including working remotely, social distancing and other policies implemented in foreign and domestic sites to protect the health and
safety of employees, have resulted in, and are expected to continue to result in, transportation disruptions (such as reduced availability of air transport, port closures, and
increased border controls or closures), production delays and capacity limitations at our facilities and some of our customers and suppliers, as well as reduced workforce
availability or productivity. These and other adverse impacts on our supply chain could limit our ability to obtain required materials in a timely manner, maintain adequate
inventory levels, and respond to changes in customer demand, which could adversely affect our business and result of operations.

The duration and extent of COVID-19's impact on our business are difficult to assess or predict. The widespread pandemic has resulted and may continue to result for an
extended period, in significant disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, repatriate funds from foreign markets, which would negatively
affect our liquidity. Further, quarantines or government reaction or shutdowns for COVID-19 could disrupt or halt our operations and materially harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Our manufacturing personnel and other employees could also be affected by COVID-19, potentially reducing their availability, and a
widespread outbreak of COVID-19 among our manufacturing or supply-chain employees could disrupt or halt our operations. Further, restrictions on gatherings of individuals
may limit the ability of our independent consultants to sell our products. Additionally, the procedures we take to mitigate the effect of COVID-19 on our workforce, including
but not limited to, social distancing and additional sanitizing measures, could reduce the efficiency of our operations, increase our operating costs or prove insufficient to
protect our employees.

Supply chain disruptions, manufacturing interruptions or delays, or the failure to accurately forecast customer demand, could adversely affect our ability to meet customer
demand, lead to higher costs, or result in excess or obsolete inventory.

Our business depends on the timely supply of materials, services and related products to meet the demands of our customers, which depends in part on the timely delivery
of materials and services from suppliers and contract manufacturers. Significant or sudden increases in demand for our products, as well as worldwide demand for the raw
materials and services we require to manufacture and sell our products, may result in a shortage of such materials or may cause shipment delays due to transportation
interruptions or capacity constraints. Such shortages or delays could adversely impact our suppliers' ability to meet our demand requirements. Difficulties in obtaining sufficient
and timely supply of materials or services can have an adverse impact on our manufacturing operations and our ability to meet customer demand.
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We may also experience significant interruptions of our manufacturing operations, delays in our ability to deliver products, increased costs or customer order
cancellations as a result of:

• the failure or inability to accurately forecast demand and obtain sufficient quantities of quality raw materials on a cost-effective basis; volatility in the availability and
cost of materials or services, including rising prices due to inflation;

• difficulties or delays in obtaining required import or export approvals;
• shipment delays due to transportation interruptions or capacity constraints, such as reduced availability of air or ground transport or port closures;
• information technology or infrastructure failures, including those of a third party supplier or service provider; and
• natural disasters or other events beyond our control (such as earthquakes, utility interruptions, tsunamis, hurricanes, typhoons, floods, storms or extreme weather

conditions, fires, regional economic downturns, regional or global health epidemics, including the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, geopolitical turmoil, increased trade
restrictions between the U.S. and China and other countries, social unrest, political instability, terrorism, or acts of war) in locations where we or our customers or
suppliers have manufacturing or other operations.

As more fully discussed in the risk factor "The ongoing coronavirus pandemic and the responses thereto around the world could adversely impact our business and
operating results" above, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and measures taken in response by governments and businesses worldwide to contain its spread, including
quarantines, facility closures, travel and logistics restrictions, border controls, and shelter in place or stay at home and social distancing orders, have adversely impacted and
may continue to adversely impact our supply chain, manufacturing, logistics, workforce and operations, as well as the operations of our customers and suppliers globally. Such
adverse impacts on our supply chain could limit our ability to manufacture and sell our products on a timely and cost-effective basis, which could adversely affect our business
and results of operations.

If we fail to timely and effectively obtain shipments of products from our manufacturers and deliver products to our independent consultants and customers, our business
and results of operations could be harmed.

Our business depends on our ability to source and distribute products in a timely manner. However, we cannot control all of the factors that might affect the timely and
effective procurement of our products from our third-party contract manufacturers and the delivery of our products to our independent consultants and customers.

We are vulnerable to risks associated with importing and exporting materials and products manufactured both at our manufacturing facility and third-party
manufacturing facilities, including, among other things: (a) risks of damage, destruction, or confiscation of products while in transit to our distribution centers; and (b)
transportation and other delays in shipments, including as a result of heightened security screening, port congestion, and inspection processes or other port- of-entry limitations
or restrictions in the United States. Failure to procure materials needed to manufacture our products and to deliver merchandise to our independent consultants and customers in
a timely, effective, and economically viable manner could reduce our sales and gross margins, damage our brand, and harm our business.

We also rely on the timely and free flow of goods through open and operational ports from our suppliers and manufacturers and to our independent consultants and
customers. Labor disputes or disruptions at ports, our common carriers, or our suppliers or manufacturers could harm our business, particularly if these disputes result in work
slowdowns, lockouts, strikes, or other disruptions during periods of significant importing or manufacturing, potentially resulting in delayed or canceled orders by customers and
unanticipated inventory accumulation or shortages. These and similar disruptions could result in harm to our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

In addition, we rely upon independent land-based and air freight carriers for product shipments to our independent consultants and customers who purchase our products.
We may not be able to obtain sufficient freight capacity on a timely basis or at favorable shipping rates and, therefore, may not be able to receive products from suppliers or
deliver products to retail partners or customers in a timely and cost-effective manner.

Accordingly, we are subject to the risks, including labor disputes, union organizing activity, inclement weather, public health crises such as the current COVID-19
pandemic (or other future pandemics or epidemics), and increased transportation costs, associated with our third-party contract manufacturers' and carriers' ability to provide
products and services to meet our requirements. In addition, if the cost of fuel rises, the cost to deliver products may rise, which could harm our profitability.
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Item 2.                     UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 

The following table summarizes the purchases of our common stock during the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2021:

Periods

Total Number of Shares
Purchased 

(in thousands)
Average Price Paid Per

Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or Programs

 (in thousands)

Maximum Dollar Value of
Shares That May Yet Be

Purchased Under the Plans
or Programs
(in thousands)

July 1, 2021 to July 31, 2021 84 $ 17.80 84 
August 1, 2021 to August 31, 2021 55 17.10 55 
September 1, 2021 to September 30, 2021 134 $ 15.42 134 
Total 273 273 $ 9,000 

(1)    On March 10, 2021, we announced a $15 million common share repurchase program. The repurchases may be made from time to time as market conditions warrant and are
subject to regulatory considerations. We purchased 273,000 shares of our common stock during the quarter ended September 30, 2021 under the terms of this Board
approved plan.

The actual timing, number, and value of common shares repurchased under our board-approved plan will be determined at our discretion and will depend on a number of
factors, including, among others, general market and business conditions, the trading price of common shares, and applicable legal requirements. We have no obligation to
repurchase any common shares under the authorization, and the repurchase plan may be suspended, discontinued, or modified at any time for any reason.
 
Item 3.                     DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
 

None.
 

Item 4.                     MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
 

Item 5.                     OTHER INFORMATION
 

None.

(1)
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Item 6.                     EXHIBITS
 

a)             Index to Exhibits
 
Item No.

 

Exhibit
10.1 (1) Amendment to Operating Agreement of Nature’s Sunshine Hong Kong Limited, dated August 13, 2021
31.1(2) Certification of Chief Executive Officer under SEC Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
31.2(2) Certification of Chief Financial Officer under SEC Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
32.1(2) Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
32.2(2) Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

104 Cover page Interactive Data File (the cover page XBRL tags are embedded within iXBRL (Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language)
document)

_________________________________________

(1)    Previously filed as Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 17, 2021 and incorporated by reference herein.

(2)    Filed currently herewith.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized.

 
Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc.

  
Date: November 4, 2021 /s/ Terrence O. Moorehead

Terrence O. Moorehead,
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 4, 2021 /s/ Joseph W. Baty
Joseph W. Baty,
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 

I, Terrence O. Moorehead, certify that:
 

1.              I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc. (“the registrant”);
 
2.             Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.             Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.             The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a)        Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)        Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)         Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)        Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

 
5.          The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)        All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)        Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 

Date: November 4, 2021 /s/ Terrence O. Moorehead
Terrence O. Moorehead
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 

I, Joseph W. Baty, certify that:
 

1.             I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc. (the “registrant”);
 
2.             Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.             Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.             The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 

(a)        Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)        Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)         Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
(d)        Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

 
5.             The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors

and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

(a)        All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b)        Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 

Date: November 4, 2021 /s/ Joseph W. Baty
Joseph W. Baty
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2021 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Terrence O. Moorehead, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18.U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, based on my knowledge:

 
(1)                   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)                   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Date: November 4, 2021 /s/ Terrence O. Moorehead

Terrence O. Moorehead
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Nature’s Sunshine Products, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2021 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Joseph W. Baty, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18.U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, based on my knowledge:

 
(1)                   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)                   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Date: November 4, 2021 /s/ Joseph W. Baty

Joseph W. Baty
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer


